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Theatres are, above all, about people, people meeting people, people getting to know each other, people sitting down together to watch a conspiracy of actors with their magic articulate their own, secret unspoken thoughts.





Tom Mullarkey, theatre architect, 1985.
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ACNI: Arts Council of Northern Ireland
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CEMA: Council for the Encouragement of Music and the Arts


DCC: Derry City Council


The Feis: The Feis Ceoil, later the Londonderry Feis, finally the Londonderry Musical Festival


The Feis Dhoire: The Feis Dhoire Colmcille
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LAOS: Londonderry Amateur Operatic Society


The Long Tower: St Columba’s Catholic church at the Long Tower


The Philharmonic: The Derry~Londonderry Philharmonic Society


Second Derry: Second Derry Presbyterian church, Strand Road


Sentinel: Londonderry Sentinel


Standard: Londonderry Standard


Third Derry: Third Derry Presbyterian church, Great James Street


TAG: The Theatre Action Group


VAC: The Verbal Arts Centre




INTRODUCTION


This book was originally envisaged as the story of Derry~Londonderry’s theatrical and musical life and times told through the history of the rise and fall of its public places of entertainment, from the Exchange Building in the seventeenth century, through the Shipquay Theatre of the 1780s and the much-loved Royal Opera House on Carlisle Road (1870s-1940), to the present-day Millennium Forum. Something of that structure remains in the book, but in the writing the focus moved from places to people and their stories. It became more a social history of music and theatre in the city, in which the people of Derry, as audiences and as performers in their own right, took centre stage, alongside the visiting artists.


On the other hand, one of the things that emerged from this study is a rebuke to the city’s sense of self-sufficiency. The more one knows about its history, the more aware one becomes of how much music and theatre in Derry has owed to incomers – Dublin-born and English theatre-managers, Scots Presbyterian precentors, European immigrant musicians – quite apart from the major celebrity figures – the Edmund Keans, the Jenny Linds, the Madame Albanis, the Paul Robesons, the Harry Christophers – who brought their talents and the breath of a larger air to Derry’s stages and concert platforms.


Another thing that became apparent is that the cultural apartheid between Catholics and Protestants that was the norm in Derry’s theatre and music for much of the twentieth century (institutionalised in its two Feiseanna) and which, of course, had its roots in the religious, social and political differences between the two groups, was a departure from the tradition of an earlier era when members of the different religious denominations in the city came together in their acting and music-making, performed in each other’s churches and shared each other’s facilities.


In the aftermath of the Troubles and on the eve of Derry’s 2013 Year of Culture, this may be the most important message of the last three centuries of theatre and music in the city.




One


EARLIEST BEGINNINGS, 1677-1788


In 1657, about twenty years before the birth of playwright George Farquhar, there was a riot in the Market Place in Derry when William Edmundson, a travelling Quaker preacher, was embroiled in a fracas with strolling actors and their audience. He was trying to dissuade a gathering and enthusiastic crowd from watching a group of English ‘Stage-players and Rope-dancers’ who were staging an impromptu show of drama and acrobatics. Edmundson loudly proclaimed that actors were a source of ‘corruption and iniquity’, the view held by the Puritan government in England at that time. A row then broke out between the preacher and onlookers, but Edmundson fared worst: to the cheers of the crowd, he was imprisoned in the city gaol. Undeterred, he continued to preach loudly through the bars of the gaol while the actors carried on their performances. Edmundson was only silenced when local people demanded that the Mayor intervene; he blocked the cell window and locked the prisoner in a leg-iron, thus quelling Edmundson’s protests.


In his Memoirs published in 1720, Edmundson records his disgust at local entertainments, ‘Profaneness was rampant: on Sundays their main entertainments were football or kales and nine-pins, shooting at the butts, quoits and bowling … stool-ball leaping and the like’. Some religious leaders in Derry no doubt shared his view and were just as forthright in expressing their disapproval of theatrical and musical entertainments, thus establishing a pattern – one which was to endure for over 200 years – whereby travelling actors, entertainers and showmen enlivened Derry’s cultural life to the chagrin of its religious leaders.
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The approximate locations of the principal cultural venues between 1688 and 1833. All were clustered in and around the walled city.


This English troupe of ‘Stage-players and Rope-dancers’ was the first recorded mention of actors in Derry, and during the later seventeenth century more groups of strolling players came in search of work to Ireland, where anti-theatre attitudes were less rife. Their ‘tours’ had no pre-determined route or timetable, rather the actors, singers and dancers travelled on horseback or by stagecoach in an ad hoc fashion, moving from town to town in search of new audiences as interest in their performances waned. The pattern was illustrated in a rousing chorus of the time, sung by a group of travelling actors:





Gallants, this Thursday night will be our last,


Then without fail we pack for Belfast.





As there was no permanent theatre building in Derry, the entertainers used the Market House and surrounding square for performances of dramas, comedies and farces. The Market Place was in the centre of the walled city and lay at the junction of the four main thoroughfares: now Bishop Street, Butcher Street, Ferryquay Street and Shipquay Street. Older street names were then used: Bishop Street was originally in two parts, called ‘Queen’ and ‘King’ Streets, Butcher Street was ‘The Shambles’, and Ferryquay Street was known as ‘Gracious Street’. Shipquay Street, then ‘Silver Street’, led north-eastwards from the Market Place, down a steep slope towards the Shipquay Gate and the quays. And it was reputedly here, in a narrow alleyway now known as Bank Lane, that Derry’s first known playwright and actor was born.


George Farquhar


George Farquhar always claimed that he was born in Derry, and it is said that his mother had travelled to Derry toward the end of her pregnancy to give birth near family and friends. George was one of seven children of John Farquhar, Anglican curate of Stranorlar, a small town about twenty-five miles south-west of Derry. As a ten year old, the young George was a boarder at Derry’s Free School, a forerunner of the present Foyle College, and he was thus at school in the city during the famous Siege. In December 1688, the local Apprentice Boys closed the city gates against the Jacobite forces, and the inhabitants of the walled city then held out for 105 days against the troops encamped outside. At this time Derry came into its own as a garrison town, and Farquhar’s experience of living in this military environment no doubt gave added reality to the soldiering themes which later permeated his plays.1
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George Farquhar (c. 1677-1707), playwright and actor.


After his father’s premature death, Farquhar enrolled at Trinity College Dublin, following in the former’s footsteps in training for the ministry. As the income of a curate’s widow was quite meagre, Farquhar’s studies were subsidised by Bishop Wiseman of Dromore, a relative on his mother’s side. But the temptations of Dublin’s social life intervened and soon Farquhar was combining his studies with visits to the Theatre Royal in Smock Alley, a favourite haunt of the ‘college wits’. He quickly decided that his career did not lie within the Church and he abandoned his theological studies; thus began an association with drama which lasted for the rest of his life.


Farquhar became an actor in Smock Alley in 1696, on a weekly wage of 20s, and made his debut as the lead in Othello. But he was considered ‘unpromising’ as an actor, and as he also suffered from intense stage fright, he was thereafter given only minor roles. This, combined with an accident onstage, in which he seriously injured a fellow actor by forgetting to change his sword for a foil, led Farquhar to abandon live performance and turn instead to writing. He set off for London, at that time the centre of theatrical life. His first two plays, Love in a Bottle and The Constant Couple, were staged in London theatres to considerable acclaim, but Farquhar failed to benefit financially from them in any substantial way. This was a recurrent pattern in Farquhar’s life, with the increasing success of his plays failing to be reflected in his monetary situation. His marriage in 1703 to a penniless widow with two children – apparently undertaken, not unlike one of his heroes, in the mistaken belief that she was an heiress – further drained his already perilous finances.


London audiences enjoyed Farquhar’s plays because of their fresh blend of warmth, humour and country life, all of which were innovatory for city theatre audiences unaccustomed to such tales of simple, rural life. As was the norm at that time, Farquhar’s dramas were interspersed with songs, musical interludes, dances and recitatives, all held together by witty dialogue, satirical comment and humorous plots.


Farquhar’s most popular plays, The Recruiting Officer and The Beaux Stratagem, were written in the closing years of his life and have proved the most enduring of all his works. The Recruiting Officer explored the romantic adventures of soldiers in the provinces, and drew upon both Farquhar’s acquaintance with the Derry garrison and his own – albeit limited – later military experience. Being perennially short of money, he had accepted a temporary post in 1704 as a recruiting lieutenant for the Grenadier Guards. The comedy was premiered in the Drury Lane Theatre on 8 April 1706 and was an immediate success, but Farquhar received only £16 2s 6d for the manuscript, and within a few months he was again seriously in debt.


His final play, The Beaux Stratagem, was written when he was terminally ill with tuberculosis. Again, this play was hugely successful on the London stage but Farquhar outlived the premiere by only eight weeks. He died on 20 May 1707 – ironically on the night of his own benefit as author – leaving a widow and two stepdaughters penniless and destitute. Farquhar had achieved popular acclaim as a playwright but financial success eluded him throughout his career.


After he had discovered the attractions of the London stage, Farquhar returned to Ireland only once: in 1704 he came to Dublin to take the title role in a benefit performance of The Constant Couple in the Smock Alley Theatre. He did not return to Derry after his school days. Nonetheless, it is with Derry that the name of George Farquhar is often associated, not just from birth but also from his most successful play, The Recruiting Officer, which derived much of its popularity from its military and provincial themes, reminiscent of Derry’s own position as a defensive military outpost at the end of the seventeenth century.


[image: images]


Title page of George Farquhar’s play The Recruiting Officer, published in 1706. It was often performed in Derry, where its military themes struck a chord with local audiences.


During the Siege, there had been considerable death and destruction in Derry and its hinterland. At least 7,000 people perished in the locality, through hunger, disease and battle, and the Town Hall in Market Place was destroyed beyond repair by ‘ye enemies bombes’. In 1692, it was rebuilt on the same site, but in a more grandiose style, and it was here that the city’s first scheduled drama performances took place in 1741.


Theatre in the Exchange


The new Market House, or the Exchange, as it was also known, dominated the main square within the walled city, and was built with money given to the city elders by King William III in reward for the city’s resolute defence during the Siege. Designed by a Captain Neville, a military engineer, it was an impressive stone building on two floors, with the upper storey supported by seven pillars. The 1837 Ordnance Survey Memoir recorded that over 120 tons of timber and 40,000 laths were used in its construction.


Drama performances, concerts, grand balls, civic dinners, coteries and drums2 were held in the elegant upper room, which had views over the four gates of the city, the River Foyle, Shipquay Place and the surrounding countryside. Bishop Pococke visited Derry in 1752 and remarked upon the ‘handsome structure’ of the Exchange, which was by then the regular venue for theatre performances and social entertainments for the gentry and elite. Local traders used the lower, open-air arcade as a market place and the basement was used for prison cells. These cells replaced the small gaol on the corner of Butcher Street, where the preacher Edmundson was imprisoned on his fateful visit to Derry.


In 1741, the Dublin newspaper Faulkner’s Journal published the itinerary for Lewis Duval’s company from the Smock Alley Theatre. The troupe were to perform in Derry’s Exchange Building for a few days in late summer, probably during ‘Race Week’, when the annual races were held at the Ballyarnett Racecourse, and the city was filled with gentry from the surrounding area. Thereafter there are only fleeting references to theatre in Derry, as in 1755 when the actor and theatre manager Richard Elrington brought his English company to play in the Exchange. The company performed in Belfast and Lisburn, before arriving in Derry on Monday 24 March, their engagement coinciding with the Spring Assizes, another highpoint of the social season which drew the elite to the city. The company no doubt performed the same programme which they had given in Belfast: a variety of farces, pantomimes, tragedies and comedies, combined with ‘popular’ songs and dances. These productions included Shakespeare’s Romeo and Juliet, Julius Caesar and Hamlet, Thomas Otway’s perennially popular domestic tragedy The Orphan: or, The Unhappy Marriage and Colley Cibber’s comedy Love Makes a Man.
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The Exchange in the Market Place. Traders sold their goods in the arcades on the ground floor; upstairs, the grand Assembly Room hosted plays, ballad operas and balls. (Ordnance Survey Memoir of the Parish of Templemore, 1837)


Elrington’s troupe consisted of eleven actors and singers – seven gentlemen and four ladies – and was fairly typical of the smaller eighteenth-century touring companies. Of the company, three were married couples: the Elringtons, the Longfields and the Wards. The remaining members were Mrs Mozeen, principal singer of the party, and Mr Pitt, a dancer and ‘harlequin’, who offered dancing lessons in Derry during the theatre run. In his press advertisement, Mr Pitt promised not to ‘defraud’ potential pupils, as had previous visiting dance masters to Derry – presumably he had heard that the profession of dancing master was not held in the highest regard in the city.


Thomas Ryder’s company came to Derry for a four-month run in the winter of 1769/70. Ryder seems to have benefitted from the paucity of theatre in the country towns at that time, finding that ‘the general business was excellent, and the benefits lucrative’. The company drew large audiences, especially as the party included the well-known, versatile actor and singer John O’Keeffe who delighted audiences with his songs and improvisations on standard plays. He gave the city one of its first ‘tailored’ pantomimes, Harlequin in Derry: or, the Dutchman Outwitted, appropriately adapted from his earlier comedy Harlequin in Waterford.


It was around this time that Charles Macklin, the renowned actor and playwright, is supposed to have played the Derry stage.


Charles Macklin


Macklin was born in Culdaff, County Donegal, allegedly the son of a Donegal publican. However, his exact origins remain shrouded in mystery, as it has also been claimed that he was descended from gentry who had lost substantial lands in Donegal for their support of the Jacobite cause. What is known is that the family moved to Dublin in the early 1700s, where the young Macklin became enamoured of the stage. Around 1716, he moved to London to begin acting, having changed his name – originally ‘Cathal McLaughlin’ – to Charles Macklin to make it more acceptable to English audiences.
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Charles Macklin (c.1699-1797) as ‘Sir Gilbert Wrangle’. (By kind permission of Dr Sean Beattie, Macklin Festival)


There followed a lengthy career on the London stage, in the Covent Garden and Drury Lane Theatres, where one of his early leading roles was in Farquhar’s The Recruiting Officer. However, it was Macklin’s portrayal of Shylock, a role which he made his own for over fifty years, which was to be his lasting memorial. His masterful characterisation of Shylock, in which it was said that ‘he rescued the character from the clutches of the low comedian’, was such that Alexander Pope said of Macklin:





This is the Jew


That Shakespeare drew.





Macklin had a lengthy and acrimonious career on the London and provincial stages, in the course of which he controversially converted from Catholicism to Protestantism. In mid-life he began to write his own plays, producing Love a La Mode in the later 1750s. It proved to be an outstanding and lasting success, and was repeatedly produced in London theatres and on the Derry stage (there in a musical version) for several decades. Like Farquhar, however, Macklin died penniless, leaving his third wife to deal with the effects of his bankruptcy, and to struggle on with a young family.


The Shipquay Theatre


Travelling companies continued to visit Derry during the early 1770s, developing the public’s appetite for plays, ballad operas and pantomime, and attracting full houses at the high points in the social calendar, the Quarterly Assizes and Race Week. But a visit by Michael Atkins’ Belfast theatre company in 1773 was a turning point in two respects: it was the first time that a Northern-based company had given a theatre season in Derry, and its manager, Atkins, was subsequently instrumental in establishing Derry’s first purpose-built theatre. Thus began a link in theatre management between Belfast and Derry which was to last for over 100 years.


In summer 1774, the Journal advertised that a new theatre would soon open on the Shipquay. It was to be built on reclaimed land, roughly on the site of the present Guildhall. This, the city’s first theatre, was a collaboration between local builder William Stewart and theatre manager Michael Atkins. Stewart owned and built the theatre, and leased it to Atkins for use when his theatre company was in Derry. The theatre itself was a simple wooden structure with a single room as the auditorium, and the Journal described the interior as having ‘pit and gallery laid together’. The visiting actor John Bernard was less generous, derisively describing it as ‘merely a temporary erection’. In spite of its basic simplicity, the Shipquay Theatre hosted hundreds of dramas, operas, farces and pantomimes during the next fifteen years, replacing the Exchange as the new home of elite entertainments. On 10 June 1774, the Journal added to the sense of anticipation in the city by publishing Atkins’ promise that he would be bringing ‘a company of players … superior to any that have performed in this city for several years’. This was followed by a warning from the manager, Michael Atkins, that he expected a rush on the opening night and therefore ‘no gold coin would be changed at the door’.


Atkins chose Farquhar’s play The Constant Couple as the main attraction on the opening night, 5 August 1774. The significance of this particular play was not lost upon local theatre-goers: they recognised the staging of Farquhar’s comedy as a fitting tribute to his association with Derry, in much the same way as later Derry audiences appreciated the premiere of Brian Friel’s Translations in September 1980. Admission on the opening night was a uniform 2s to all parts of the theatre, and the auditorium was packed by 7 p.m. with people keen to see Farquhar’s play, which was paired with George Colman’s two-act farce The Deuce is in Him, and additional songs and dances. For this opening night there was no ‘half-price admission’ after 9p.m., which was the norm on all other evenings.


The opening performance was prefaced by a forty-four-line address by a Mr Wilmot, one of Atkins’ actors, in which he drew comic parallels between the ending of the Siege and the opening of Derry’s new theatre:





Then spite of walls – or you in martial plight,


E’er prompt for Life and Truth and Vict’ry to fight …


Each gate shall open to dramatic laws


And crowding hands shall greet us with applause.


Michael Atkins


By 1774, Derry’s new theatre manager, Michael Atkins, was already a veteran of the Irish stage. He had been an actor in the Smock Alley Theatre in Dublin since he was fifteen, and had toured in Belfast and other provincial towns since his early twenties. His ambitions, however, quickly extended beyond acting and he took over as manager of the Belfast theatre in 1773, where he established his own troupe as the first resident theatre company in the north of Ireland. Atkins’ company had about a dozen players but was also a family business, as it included his Belfast-born wife, the former Catherine Hutton, an actress and singer, and his daughter; both sang and played the harpsichord onstage. Atkins’ son, also named Michael, acted and built the scenery. Atkins himself was theatre manager, stage director, financial controller, singer and actor; in addition, he was reputedly a good violinist.


The first season lasted for four and a half months, between 4 August and 26 December, with performances three times a week, on Mondays, Wednesdays and Thursdays. This increased to nightly during Race Week in early August, when Derry’s streets bustled with fashionable crowds. Newspaper advertisements for the races in 1777 and 1778 advertised ‘public ordinaries, balls or plays each night’, and Atkins’ company returned to Derry every August during the later 1770s, confident of attracting ‘bumper houses’ to the theatre. In return, theatre patrons were presented with lengthy and varied performances; two plays per night were the norm, with dances, songs and musical interludes, and an evening’s entertainment rarely ended before midnight.


For the next fifteen years, Derry audiences enjoyed repeated performances of their favourite plays, such as Farquhar’s comedies, dramas by Molière and a masque by Milton. Shakespeare’s plays remained especially popular with presentations of As You Like It in December 1774, The Merchant of Venice in June 1782, and Hamlet, Macbeth and Romeo and Juliet during the 1783 summer season. But these productions differed from the modern dramatic norm; they were loosely adapted musical versions of the plays, interwoven with songs, dances and instrumental interludes. Contemporary legislation forbade the performance of purely dramatic performances in theatres other than in London’s Drury Lane and Covent Garden, so theatres in the provinces staged their own musical versions of the popular plays of the dramatic repertoire. As a result of this, theatre seasons in Derry between 1774 and 1788 were exceedingly musical in tone and content, with performances on the harpsichord and songs by Michael Atkins’ wife and daughter, and guest appearances by amateur ‘Gentlemen’ flautists.


Ballad operas became particularly popular in Derry, with the first advertised staging of The Beggar’s Opera on 18 August 1779, the beginning, perhaps, of a love for operetta in the city. Bickerstaffe’s musical interlude The Recruiting Serjeant and Dibdin’s operetta The Quaker were also presented to great acclaim in autumn 1782 and then given repeat performances in the same season – an unusual accolade in a city where the newness of a production was a major attraction. Opera enthusiasts could buy copies of the opera libretti for 6½d and opera glasses in George Douglas’s bookshop in the Diamond. At this time, Douglas was also proprietor of the Journal and his early knowledge of the content of theatre seasons probably enabled him to stock his bookshop in advance. In addition, Douglas sold music paper, music books and German flutes, and was the first music retailer in the city before 1800.


In 1782, there was competition between the rival theatre companies of Michael Atkins and Myrton Hamilton, who vied for tenancy at the theatre during the profitable summer season. An agreement was reached, with Hamilton’s company having the theatre during June, while Atkins’ troupe had an extended autumn season between August and early December. For this run, Atkins offered season tickets at a guinea each, with guaranteed admission to all performances. Theatre tickets cost 2s in 1774 but had risen to 2s 2d by 1782. In view of this price increase, Atkins’ subscription ticket offered a good bargain to theatre patrons and endeared him to his Derry public. But notwithstanding Atkins’ apparent generosity, the Shipquay Theatre was a profitable enterprise. During June 1783, for example, Atkins’ share of the theatre takings amounted to £25 after all expenses had been paid. At this time, an agricultural labourer or a manual worker could expect to receive only 9d for a day’s employment.


In autumn of that same year, a weak beam in the roof of the Shipquay Theatre made the building unsafe. The fault was rectified within two weeks, however, and the theatre declared ready for business again on 27 October. In the meantime the actors had gone to Sligo to perform but they reassembled in Derry to continue another sparkling season which lasted until February 1784. Derry was by then a ‘staging post’, with touring companies playing in the city en route to Sligo and the West of Ireland, and then performing again on the return leg of the journey. This arrangement received advance billing in the press, with the promise of more performances in the city within a few weeks.


The presence of the garrison was also an important stimulus to theatre seasons. The Journal often commented upon a strong military presence amongst the audience and performances were often held ‘Under the Patronage’ of the officers and men of the garrison. The local Volunteers also played their part in Derry’s theatrical life: during the 1783 season, their band was the resident orchestra at the Shipquay Theatre.


By 1784, the hastily built, wooden-framed theatre had been open for ten years and the likelihood of it becoming increasingly unsafe no doubt prompted Atkins to look for a new venue in Derry. In September of that year he announced that he would open ‘a new theatre on an elegant plan’, which could accommodate ‘the polite audience of Londonderry’. But it was another five years before this theatre opened, and in the meantime Atkins worked at increasing the audience that he had already drawn to the Shipquay Theatre. During the 1785/6 season, he again offered subscription tickets. Although more expensive, at one and a half guineas, they were for a season lasting seven months, between November and May.


Within ten years of the opening of the Shipquay Theatre, ‘the drama in Derry’ – as the press referred to it – had been established on a secure and popular footing. Atkins had provided his Derry audiences with varied entertainments and fulfilled the promise made in 1774 to include ‘all the new pieces that have appeared in London and Dublin theatres’. More importantly, he had secured enough finance to begin planning a new theatre, this time housed in a more substantial structure and in a central location within the walled city. This new theatre, which opened in October 1789, built upon Atkins’ early achievements and brought drama and music in Derry to new heights.


Concerts


Concerts were rare in Derry before 1830, as in most Irish provincial towns during the eighteenth century. Some ‘concerts’ were advertised in the press but they were actually hybrid entertainments by visiting musicians which relied upon novelty features, dramatic interludes and freak-show elements to attract audiences. The musicians were diverse and unusual, and their musical accomplishments were usually secondary to their other attractions. In 1777, there were ‘concerts’ by a singing and dancing male giant and female dwarf, and in 1782, ‘concerts’ by the nine-year-old Master Jackson, who was ‘skilled in Music both Theory and Practical and [had an] agility in Dancing’. In spring 1784, Derry had a lengthy stay by a certain ‘Don Diego Decepio Visus’ a self-styled ‘Bee-keeper’ from Lapland. Don Diego stayed in Derry for six weeks, benefiting from the crowds drawn by the Spring Assizes, giving daily performances of his ‘Grand Medley of Entertainments’. He promised ‘A Good Fire and Good Music in the Room’ – with the precise nature of his ‘act’ (surely it didn’t involve bees?) left tantalisingly unclear.


In all, there were about ten ‘novelty’ visits of this kind before the end of the 1780s, providing audiences with more of a ‘curiosity-show’ than a musical experience. Local musicians, who were few in number, do not seem to have given concerts. Instead, most music was heard in the theatre: in the songs and dances in the plays, in musical interludes between the acts, and in the perennially popular ballad operas. Surprisingly, therefore, out of this concert vacuum sprang Derry’s first known music society, the Londonderry Musical Society, which was active for a brief yet concentrated period in the early 1780s.


The First Londonderry Musical Society


Only fragmentary details can be gleaned about this first society, drawn from a handful of advertisements for four concerts between 1780 and 1781. The members of the society must have been part of a small, close-knit group and would have known practice times and venues without the need for notification in the press. This type of small music society, in which professional men gathered together to ‘sing glees’, was common at the close of the eighteenth century. John Bernard, an Irish actor who often attended music society meetings in the larger provincial towns, said that the meetings were convivial social occasions when an exclusively male membership got together regularly ‘to smoke a pipe and sing a song’. The Londonderry Musical Society was probably formed along these same lines.


Only four names appeared in press advertisements for the music society: James Acheson, the treasurer; Dr Gordon; John Shannon, the Cathedral organist, and John Augustus Kalener, a foreign musician. Acheson was a local merchant and an office-bearer in other local charitable bodies as treasurer of Derry’s infirmary and poorhouse committees. Dr Gordon and John Shannon were jointly responsible for supplying subscribers’ tickets to members, and as Cathedral organist, Shannon was one of the two professional musicians in the ranks of the society. It is probable that both he and Kalener gave musical leadership and received fees in return. These four members were a microcosm of the society as a whole, representing its three separate component strands: the city’s professional and merchant classes, church musicians and a resident foreign musician.3


The music society gave several concerts during its first year, but only advertised at the start of an ‘ensuing quarter’ (as in July 1780) or the ‘first of the ensuing half year’ (as in December 1780), thus precluding any accurate estimate of the number given. But there seem to have been regular concerts between July and September 1780, followed by a second season from December 1780 to May 1781. Admission to the concerts was by subscribers’ tickets, with concertgoers being warned that ‘tickets could not be purchased at the door’. This might, however, have been a device to encourage ticket sales in advance. The repertoire at the concerts was probably the usual fare for this type of society: glee singing, duos, trios and some instrumental items, for which the menfolk would have been heartily applauded by their largely female audience.


The first and last of the four advertised concerts provide insights into this early music society. Both concerts were benefits for Kalener, the first probably as a reward for services already rendered. For the first concert, on 17 February 1780, tickets were available from Dr Gordon and John Shannon at 3s 3d each. This was expensive – the costliest theatre tickets at this time were 3s and the cheapest, 1s – underlining yet again the elite membership and patronage of the Londonderry Musical Society. The second benefit concert was an entirely different occasion, organised by Kalener for himself. In February 1781, he suddenly announced that he had become ‘desirous of returning to his own country’ but was ‘unable to go for want of money’. There was no mention of the music society, and, in contrast with the earlier concert, tickets were priced much lower (at 2s 2d) and were available only from Kalener himself. This was a solo venture by Kalener, who was hoping to benefit personally from the financial generosity of society members whom he had tutored. After this concert, nothing further was heard of Kalener; his sudden departure probably meant that the society disintegrated without his professional guidance, since after February 1781 there was no further mention of it.


There was a single concert of ‘Vocal and Instrumental Music and Ball’ in February 1784 by local amateurs in aid of the ‘Poor of the City’. The performers were not mentioned as music society members, but it is likely they were the remnants of the city’s first music society giving a final charitable performance.


Social Entertainments


Derry also had a vibrant round of social entertainments which were designed to appeal to the gentry and garrison. These entertainments included music, plays, recitations and dance, and made their own contribution to the richness of the city’s cultural life.


The Journal was first published in July 1772 and its advertising columns give a glimpse into the social life of the gentry and upper classes who lived in the nucleus of streets within the walled city. A notice appeared in September 1772 for a ‘Public Ball’ organised by a Mr Morris, a dancing master from Dublin, and he promised a full evening’s entertainment, ‘Tea, Cakes and Cards’ and a performance of ‘Part of a Play’, followed by a ‘Dance, to begin at six o’clock in the afternoon’. The event was in the Town Hall on 1 October, with tickets at 2s 2d for adults and 1s 1d for ‘Young Masters and Misses’, a cost far beyond the reach of the working classes of the city. The same edition of the Journal advertised a ‘Charitable Assembly’ in the Town Hall on Monday 14 October, this time organised by a Revd Mr Blackall, for ‘the Benefit of the Widow Dunlap’, with admission of 2s 2d. The early appearance of these two advertisements indicates that Derry, like other provincial towns in Ireland, already enjoyed a frequent round of balls, assemblies and coteries during the eighteenth century.


This activity increased during the five highpoints of the social calendar: Race Week in August and the Quarterly Assizes, when social entertainments were held daily. The city buzzed, with the upper classes keen to enjoy themselves. Only the wealthy elite in Derry could afford to attend these social events, which were modelled upon the larger and grander events held in London and Dublin. To keep themselves up to date with the latest songs, dances and plays from the two capital cities, Derry’s aspiring socialites could buy copies of The Fashionable Songster and The Gentleman’s Magazine in George Douglas’s bookshop in the Market Place. Both these publications contained sheet music and verses of the latest popular songs.


Derry’s larger balls and assemblies were held in the Exchange Building, while Neilson’s Hotel in Pump Street4 was used for the smaller balls and coteries held in the winter months. As with the theatre, it was the upper classes and the officers and men of the garrison who flocked to the dances. Members of leading Derry and Donegal families – the Ash, Ferguson, McCausland, Knox and Alexander families – were named as stewards at the balls, coteries and drums, alongside the captains and officers of the garrison.


From 1781, the Derry Assemblies were held fortnightly between December and February, when the services of the local garrison proved invaluable. The regimental band stationed in the city provided the ‘Musick’ for dancing at eight assemblies during the winter of 1784/5, and was paid 17s 4d per night for their services. Of course, this arrangement benefited the musicians of the garrison by providing additional income for the individual soldiers.


Another new entertainment was added during the winter of 1785, when a card-room opened in the Exchange on Thursday evenings. Here the ‘Ladies and Gentlemen’ of the city could meet to play cards and to dance from 7p.m. onwards for the relatively inexpensive admission of 1s 1d, a cost on a par with theatre tickets. The ‘Company’ was requested to appear ‘in half dress’, suggesting that a certain air of formality was still to be observed, even in these quieter winter months.


As with the theatre, the presence of the garrison was a key element in Derry’s social life. The officers and men of the garrison not only provided audiences for the theatre and dance partners at the balls and coteries, but were themselves key guests at dinners and civic celebrations. Grand dinners were regularly held in the Exchange for the officers of regiments departing the city, complemented, of course, by equally ‘Grand Dinners’ for the officers of incoming regiments. In May 1782, the ‘Gentlemen’ of Derry held a Grand Dinner for Colonel Frazer and the officers of the ‘Royal Regiment’ who were about to leave ‘to march to Dublin’; the following week this regiment was replaced by the entire 49th Regiment from Belfast, for whom more celebratory dinners were held. Of course, the men of the garrison made their own contribution to Derry’s unique local celebrations, as in December 1786, when they ‘fired three vollies’ at the ‘Shutting of the Gates’ commemorations in the city square and then hosted ‘a most elegant ball and supper’ for the ‘Ladies and Gentlemen’ of the city. This was reciprocated the following week by an equally ‘elegant’ dinner given by a number of Derry’s ‘Gentlemen’ for the officers of the 13th Regiment.


This range of social entertainments in Derry changed little during the later eighteenth century, except for an occasional increase in frequency when new regiments arrived at the garrison and the city’s young ladies were keen to meet the new officers. These entertainments and the theatre remained the central focus of cultural life, providing social contact for the gentry, middle classes and the officers of the garrison.


Derry’s social and cultural life was also periodically enlivened by visits from its celebrated – if eccentric – Anglican Bishop, Frederick Hervey, who was an ardent devotee of theatre and the arts.


The Earl Bishop, Frederick Hervey


Frederick Hervey was appointed Bishop of Derry in 1768, at that time the richest diocese in Ireland; eleven years later he succeeded to the title and estates of the Earl of Bristol, which made him a wealthy man in his own right. His family connections were also with the highest in the land – the Prince of Wales had attended his christening – and the wealth he inherited funded what was, even for those days, an extravagant lifestyle. Latterly he spent little time at his official Palace in Bishop Street in Derry, preferring instead to travel throughout Europe on the Grand Tour, collecting art treasures for the great houses he was building in Suffolk, Ballyscullion, and Downhill outside Castlerock.5 The many ‘Bristol’ hotels in Europe today, which take their name from him, show the impression left on contemporaries by this flamboyant, worldly cleric, as he travelled with his entourage from place to place.


Hervey had diverse interests in Derry. He became passionately involved in the Volunteer Movement, which was set up during the later 1770s to defend Ireland against invasion by the French. Hervey manoeuvred himself into the position of Colonel-in-Chief of the Londonderry Volunteers, who invariably turned out in strength to greet him warmly on his returns to the city. Although no model spiritual leader of his own Anglican flock in Derry, Hervey was generous towards the city in material terms. He contributed £1,000 towards the construction of the new wooden bridge over the Foyle and donated towards the building of both First Derry Presbyterian church6 and the Catholic Long Tower church. In return, when he died in 1803 and was buried at Bury St Edmunds, the ‘people of Derry’ showed their gratitude by having an obelisk erected there in his memory. It was inscribed with details of his good works towards the people of all religions of the city, and ended with the tribute, ‘He was the friend and protector of them all … After thirty-five years’ occupancy of the See of Derry, all hostile sects which had long entertained feelings of deep animosity towards each other were gradually softened and reconciled by his influence and example.’
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Portrait of the Earl Bishop, Frederick Hervey (1730-1803).


For St Columb’s Cathedral, Hervey paid for the erection of a lofty spire in 1798, but it proved to be unstable and had to be dismantled four years later. Hervey, however, had little interest in the music of his own Cathedral, which suffered from comparative neglect during the later eighteenth century in that the full choral service was infrequently performed. Nonetheless, it was in Derry’s churches where the poorer people of the city, excluded from the theatre and social entertainments by the high admission costs, could enjoy some music.


Music in St Columb’s Cathedral


St Columb’s Cathedral was completed in 1633, the first Anglican Cathedral to be built in Britain after the Reformation. Like the Exchange, it was built with the financial help of the London Guilds, and their contribution of £3,800 is acknowledged in a tablet in the porch of the Cathedral, with the words:





If Stones Could Speake


Then Londons prayse


Should sound who


Built this church and


Cittie from the grounde.





The earliest recorded musical performance in St Columb’s Cathedral was in December 1789, during a three-day celebration of the centenary of the Siege. A procession of dignitaries and townspeople, led by the Earl Bishop, paraded to the Cathedral for a special service, where selections from Handel’s oratorio Judas Maccabeus were sung by the Cathedral Choir. The choice of this particular oratorio for the Siege commemoration service was significant, given its allegorical theme of victory over the enemy and its anti-Jacobite origins.7 The Cathedral Choir was probably augmented for the occasion, as it was quite small at this time. It was, however, unusual in having both boys and girls in its ranks.


Although the music in St Columb’s was undistinguished during the eighteenth century, visitors to the city did note that the Cathedral had a ‘fine organ’. It was a good instrument for its time, with three manuals, nineteen stops and ‘In all One thousand one hundred and eighty pipes.’ The organ was installed in 1748 by Dublin organ-builder Philip Hollister and was a gift from the then Bishop of Derry, George Stone, later Archbishop of Ireland. Local folklore has it that the original mahogany case, which still stands in the west gallery of the Cathedral, was carved from wood salvaged from a ship of the Spanish Armada which had foundered off the north coast of Ireland in 1588. The quiet life of the Cathedral was interrupted by an unexpected incident in November 1778, when ‘some evil-minded persons’ vandalised the new organ. Several organ pipes were broken and the intricate carved casing was damaged, prompting a newspaper advertisement offering a £5 reward for information leading to the arrest of the culprits.
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St Columb’s Cathedral. (Ordnance Survey Memoir of the Parish of Templemore, 1837)


Between 1699 and 1817, the position of Cathedral organist was concentrated in two local families: the Garraways (father and son) and the Shannons (father, John, followed by son William around 1800).8 The post was a joint appointment from 1791 onwards, with the organist taking on responsibility for training the choir as well. John Shannon, organist since 1770, was paid an additional £10 per annum for this new duty. But Shannon had always augmented his organist’s salary with other sources of income: he gave private music tuition in Derry and, as previously mentioned, was singing tutor to the Londonderry Musical Society. Shannon was one of the first private advertisers in the Journal, selling harpsichords, spinets and guitars, and, by 1796, the first pianos to reach the Derry market.


After the 1789 centenary service in the Cathedral, the procession of city notables moved to First Derry on the West Wall, home of the singing ‘Blue Boys’. There, the minister, Revd Robert Black, preached a sermon and the congregation joined with the boys in the singing of unaccompanied psalms.


The Singing Blue Boys


The ‘Blue Boys’, or the ‘Singing Boys’ as the Journal sometimes called them, were the first known leaders of church singing in Derry. Their name came from their uniform: a blue coat with a yellow collar worn with boots, hats and breeches. The use of local ‘charity children’ (i.e. orphans and street urchins) to lead congregational singing was common in Anglican churches during the early eighteenth century, and similar types of ‘singing schools’ were also found in Scottish Presbyterian congregations.


Apart from Derry’s school, there was only one other known ‘Blue Coat’ school in Ireland – in Dublin – but no links are known between the two institutions. However, they both employed the same educational model: the boys were housed, clothed, fed and educated in return for singing in church. After a boy’s voice had broken, he was apprenticed ‘to a Protestant Master’ with the opportunity to learn a trade. The Derry schoolhouse did not have the architectural splendour of its Dublin counterpart, or its longevity, but it was a unique institution within Derry in laying the foundations of choral singing in the city. Derry’s four Presbyterian congregations and their choral societies built upon this tradition during the nineteenth century.


The exact date of the establishment of the Blue School in Derry is unclear: the records of the First Derry Church suggest ‘about 1773’, but the City Corporation records mention a payment of £12 ‘To ye Charity boys’ in February 1744. Samuel Lewis’s 1837 Topographical Dictionary dates the foundation even earlier, to the 1730s. Regardless of the precise date of inauguration, the Blue School was already operating in a small building at the back of First Derry in Meeting-House Row when the Journal began publication in 1772, as the first edition of the paper mentioned a hymn which the boys had sung at a service and said that the school had become a charity five years earlier.


The school grew from small beginnings: it had just eight boys in 1773; five years later there were two more boys, and by 1798 the number had reached ‘twelve singing boys’. The Journal provided detailed accounts of the costs of feeding, clothing and teaching the boys. In 1773, the finances of the school were in a healthy state, testament to the value which the city inhabitants attached to it. The accounts recorded a credit balance of over £22, even before inclusion of two years’ contributions of £24 due from the City Corporation. However, little is known of the musical accomplishments of the Blue Boys, except that in addition to their singing of unaccompanied psalms in the Presbyterian church, they occasionally sang anthems in the Cathedral to organ accompaniment.


Between 1778 and 1820, the Blue School was funded by charity sermons, held alternately in First Derry and the Cathedral, and after each service the Journal listed the names of those who had attended and contributed to upkeep of the school.9 The newspaper also mentioned sizeable donations from those absent on the day. The contributors included most of Derry’s leading citizens, showing that the Blue School had financial support and goodwill from both its own Presbyterian congregation and from the Anglican Church. In 1794, the Journal commented upon this harmonious relationship between the two major denominations in the city and described the success of the charity sermons as evidence of ‘the amiable intercourse between the Church and the Presbyterian Congregations in Derry’. The sermon in February of that year was in the Presbyterian church and was attended by ‘The members of the Corporation, the colonel and officers of the Donegal Militia and the principal families of the Established Church.’ The Mayor and clergy acted as collectors and the sermon raised over £77. Contributions rose steadily in following years to reach £93 in 1799.


The final charity sermon was in 1820 and was accompanied by an appeal for extra generosity; it raised over £150. But musical practices had changed with the new century, and within two years the Blue Boys Choir had been disbanded and a precentor appointed to lead the psalmody in First Derry. By 1824, the school had lost its privileged charitable position and was opened to all Protestant children upon payment of one penny a day. The musical dimension of the school also declined; the advertisement for the new schoolmaster’s post did not specify the ability to teach vocal music as a particular requirement.


Thus ended Derry’s first School of Music, the Blue School, which attained a unique status in the city, being the single sphere in which church music, education and charitable benevolence intertwined for the benefit of Presbyterianism, which was to remain the dominant religious force in Derry during the next fifty years.


John Wesley in Derry


By the end of the 1780s, Derry was a prosperous city with a population close to 4,500 people. Houses within the walled city now accommodated fashionable gentry and the upper classes, alongside an expanding merchant class eager to see the city grow in prosperity. The quays buzzed with commercial activity, both in goods and passengers trade, such that the Shipquay area was no longer an appropriate location for the city theatre. In addition, the steep incline of Shipquay Street, which led towards the Shipquay Theatre, was difficult terrain for the coaches that transported the ‘Ladies and Gentlemen’ to the theatre. The increased popularity of the visiting theatre companies and musicians also meant that the small Shipquay Theatre had become inadequate for the needs of the elite classes, merchant families and the men of the garrison. The theatre in Artillery Lane that opened in 1789 was to become the new elite venue for visiting artistes and their audiences.


There were, however, other visitors apart from travelling actors and musicians. John Wesley, the founder of Methodism, made his first visit to Derry in May 1765 and claimed that he had preached in Linenhall Square to ‘the largest congregation [he had] seen in the North of Ireland’. He returned for nine more visits, the last being in 1789, when he preached at the newly built Methodist chapel on the East Wall, within earshot of the new theatre. Wesley’s views on theatre were well known: he regarded the theatre as ‘the sink of all profaneness and debauchery’, a view which may have found support among many of his Derry listeners. By 1802, the author Robert Sampson noted ‘a remarkable vein of piety’ in the city’s inhabitants. He also perceived ‘an air of superiority’ among the Presbyterian congregations, which he attributed to their industry in the manufacture of linen.


Not all clerics shared Wesley’s views on theatre. Within a year of opening, the new theatre in Artillery Lane hosted a visit by the Bishop of Derry, Frederick Hervey, Earl of Bristol. In November 1790, on his last visit to Derry, Hervey rode through the city to attend a Grand Dinner and then a performance at the theatre. At that time he was Colonel-in-Chief of the Londonderry Volunteers and it was they who formed a Guard of Honour for his triumphant procession towards his palace, where he dined before his evening’s entertainment in Artillery Lane. Hervey’s visit to the theatre confirmed its status as the new home of elite entertainments for the gentry, garrison and upper classes. The Artillery Lane Theatre was soon to fulfil its early promise during Derry’s ‘Golden Age’ of drama.


Notes


  1    It remains open to conjecture whether Farquhar fought at the Battle of the Boyne in 1690, as some historians have suggested.


  2    Coteries were small-scale dances which included card-playing and polite conversation, and were attended by a fairly intimate circle of people, while drums were larger, more public dances.


  3    Foreign musicians, usually from mainland Europe, were quite numerous in the larger Irish provincial towns during the eighteenth century. They increased in number in Derry during the nineteenth century.


  4    Later known as the King’s Arms Hotel.


  5    The Ballyscullion house in Mid-Ulster is the only one of Hervey’s three houses which has been demolished. Ickworth in Suffolk and remnants of Downhill, outside Castlerock, are still extant.
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